#### Case No. 71325

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

Electronically Filed Jan 25 2017 02:18 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

FIRST HORIZON HOME LOANS, A DIVISION OF FIRST TENNESSEE BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable GLORIA STURMAN, District Judge
District Court Case No. District Court Case No. A-13-679329-C

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

HOWARD C. KIM, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10386
E-mail: howard@kgelegal.com
JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10593
E-mail: jackie@kgelegal.com
DIANA CLINE EBRON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10580

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The District Court entered judgment in favor of First Horizon Home Loans on August 17, 2016, and the notice of entry of that order was entered on August 19, 2016. This order was a final order as it resolved all issue between all parties. SFR Investment Pool 1, LLC, timely noticed its appeal on September 16, 2016.

## **APPELLANT'S STATEMENT REGARDING ROUTING**

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), SFR Investment Pool 1, LLC, ("SFR") states that this case contains "matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance." NRAP 17(a)(14). The issues raised in this case deals with properties purchased in NRS 116 foreclosure sales. Specifically, this appeal involves a unique question regarding whether a homeowners association must begin its foreclosure process anew if, after it has begun the foreclosure process, a bank with actual notice of the association foreclosure proceedings, forecloses and purchases the property, knowing it must pay the superpriority portion of the lien remaining to avoid foreclosure by the association.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- Whether a homeowner association must restart its foreclosure process when the subject property is previously transferred in a foreclosure on a bank's mortgage.
- 2) Whether a homeowner association must restart the NRS 116 foreclosure process if the party who previously obtained a property interest at a bank foreclosure received actual notice of the pending association foreclosure.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The property in this case was subject to a NRS 116.3116 foreclosure. Unique to this case is that before the association foreclosure, First Horizon Home Loans ("the Bank") held its own foreclosure based on the homeowners' failure to pay the mortgage. At the Bank's foreclosure, the Bank placed a credit bid on the property. The Bank's bid was the highest and thus the Bank acquired the property.

Even before the Bank acquired ownership interest in the property, the Bank was actually aware of Squire Village at Silver Springs Community Association's ("Association's") intent to foreclose on the property. At no time before the association foreclosure sale, including before or after the Bank obtained title to the property, did the Bank pay any portion of the Association's superpriority lien. Thus, after the Bank's foreclosure, the issue for this Court was simply whether the superpriority portion of the Association lien remained and can an association continue with its foreclosure proceedings when a Bank with actual notice of an association's superpriority lien, forecloses on their mortgage prior to the association's foreclosure?

In regards to this issue, SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR") and the Bank filed competing motions for summary judgment. The District Court granted judgment in favor of the Bank and ordered the association sale void and thereby voiding SFR's interest in the property. (*See* 4JA\_796.) SFR now appeals this Order.

## FACTUAL BACKGROUND

SFR presents the following factual and procedural background.

DATE	FACTS
1991	Nevada adopted Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act as NRS 116, including NRS 116.3116(2).
September 19, 2001	The "Association perfected and gave notice of its lien by recording its Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions. <sup>1</sup>
	Special Warranty Deed recorded transferring real property commonly referred to as 5069 Midnight Oil Dr., Las Vegas, NV 89122-8124; Parcel No. 161-26-111-017 (the "Property") to Anna Torres ("Torres").
July 25, 2008	Deed of Trust in favor of the Bank as the lender was recorded. <sup>3</sup> Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), solely as nominee for the Bank, was named as the beneficiary under the deed of trust. The lender prepared and Torres signed, a Planned Unit Development Rider as part of the deed of trust, recognizing the need to pay assessments to the Association and the ability of the lender to pay the assessments should the Torres default.
September 1, 2011	Torres became delinquent on the loan secured by the First Deed of Trust. <sup>4</sup>
February 22, 2012	Notice of delinquent assessments recorded by the Association. <sup>5</sup>
April 20, 2012	Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien recorded by the Association via Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("Alessi") the Association's foreclosure agent.
	Alessi mailed a copy of the Notice of Default to the Bank <sup>7</sup> The Bank admitted that it received the Notice of Default. <sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 2JA\_383. <sup>2</sup> 2JA\_387.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 2JA\_392.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 2JA\_402.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2JA\_415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2JA\_417.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 2JA\_419.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 2JA\_439 at 52:9-24.

August 13, 2012	Second Notice of Default and Election to Sell Under Homeowners Association Lien ("NOD") recorded by the Association via Alessi. <sup>9</sup> Alessi mailed a copy of the NOD to the Bank. <sup>10</sup> The Bank admitted that it received the NOD. <sup>11</sup>	
August 17, 2012	MERS, as the nominee for the Bank, assigns and transfers to the Bank all beneficial interest under that deed of trust dated 07/15/2008. 12	
August 17, 2012	Nationstar purporting to be the attorney in fact for the Bank recorded a Substitution of Trustee ("SOT") to substitute National Defaulting Servicing Corporation, ("NDSC") <sup>13</sup>	
October 30, 2012	NDSC recorded its Notice of Default and Election To Sell Under Deed of Trust ("Bank's NOD"). 14	
January 11, 2013	NDSC re- recorded the Deed of Trust. <sup>15</sup>	
February 5, 2012	Association recorded Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOS") which listed to date of sale as March 6, 2013. <sup>16</sup> Alessi mailed a copy of the NOS to the Bank. <sup>17</sup> The Bank admitted that it received the NOS. <sup>18</sup>	
February 7, 2013	NDSC recorded Notice of Trustee's Sale under the Bank's Deed of Trust ("Bank's NOS"). 19	
February 26, 2013	NDSC, under the Deed of Trust sold the Property at the foreclosure auction to the Bank for \$151,283.09, effectively extinguishing the deed of trust. <sup>20</sup>	
Prior to March 6, 2013	No payments were made by the Bank to the Association or Alessi <b>before</b> the Bank's foreclosure sale. <sup>21</sup>	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 2JA\_457.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 2JA\_459.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 2JA\_439 at 51:1-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 2JA\_479.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 2JA\_481.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 2JA\_483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> 3JA\_492.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 3JA\_509.

<sup>17 3</sup>JA\_511.
18 2JA\_439 at 53:1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> 3JA\_518.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 3JA\_522.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 2JA\_439 at 28:1-6.

	No release of the super-priority lien was recorded. <sup>22</sup>
	No Trustee's Deed Upon Sale was recorded by the Bank. <sup>23</sup>
	No lis pendens was recorded by the Bank. <sup>24</sup>
	Nothing in the record indicates that a payment was made by the Bank to the Association or Alessi between February 26 and March 6, 2013.
	Nothing in the record indicates the Bank attempted to communicate with the Association or Alessi between February 26 and March 6, 2013.
	The Accessive formal and a selection of CDD 11 and 1
March 6 2012	The Association foreclosure sale took place and SFR placed the winning bid of \$7,000.00. <sup>25</sup>
March 6, 2013	The Bank did not attend or participate in the Association foreclosure sale. <sup>26</sup>
March 7, 2013	Bank recorded its Trustee's Deed Upon Sale from the Bank's Foreclosure. <sup>27</sup>
	Foreclosure Deed vesting title in SFR is recorded. <sup>28</sup>
	As recited in the Trustee's Deed Upon Sale, All requirements of law regarding the mailing of copies of notices and the posting and publication of the copies of the NOS have been complied with.
March 18, 2013	SFR has no reason to doubt the recitals in the Foreclosure Deed — if there were any issues with delinquency or noticing, none of these were communicated to SFR. <sup>29</sup>
	Further, neither SFR, nor its manager, have any relationship with the Association besides owning property within the community and bidding on properties at auction. <sup>30</sup>

<sup>22 3</sup>JA\_529 at ¶ 10. 23 *Id.* at ¶ 10. 24 *Id.* at ¶ 6. 25 3JA\_526 26 2JA\_439 at 63:14-20. 27 3JA\_522.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 3JA\_529 at ¶ 7. <sup>30</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 8.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

If an Association complies with NRS 116 when perfecting tis lien then the Association has a valid superpriority lien which can serve to extinguish all junior interest if that lien is foreclosed on. *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (2014). Nothing in NRS 116 requires an Association to restart its foreclosure proceedings if an interest in a property changes hands prior to the association's foreclosure. Since NRS 116.31162 requires the Association to record their NOD and NOS, any one acquiring property during the NRS 116 foreclosure process would be constructively aware of the association's lien and intent to foreclose by a casual scan of the recorded documents. The purchaser at the Bank's foreclosure sale would also know it had to pay all senior liens remaining on the property which could otherwise divest it of its title. That is exactly what the superpriority of the Association's lien could do—and did do in this case.

The unique situation herein is that the party which acquired the property in the middle of the Association foreclosure process was the Bank who was also a previous junior lien holder. NRS 116.31162 requires that the NOD and NOS be sent to all junior lien holders, including the Bank. The Bank admits receipt of the NOD and NOS.<sup>31</sup> Thus, it not only had constructive notice it had actual notice that the Association foreclosure was imminent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> 2JA\_439 at 51:1-12; 53:1-3.

Even if extra notices were due to the Bank after it purchased the property at its own foreclosure, the Bank's title was unrecorded at the time of the Association foreclosure sale. NRS 111.315 requires every conveyance of property to be recorded to be effective against subsequent purchasers without notice. Nothing was recorded releasing the Association's superpriority portion of the lien.

### ARGUMENT

## I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id.; NRCP 56(c). All evidence and inferences must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party on a summary judgment motion. Safeway, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

## II. THE ASSOCIATION FORECLOSURE COMPLIED WITH NRS 116 AND EXTINGUISHED THE BANK'S INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY.

This case involves the aftermath of two foreclosure sales; the Bank's foreclosure and the Association's foreclosure. As will be shown below, the Association foreclosure was validly noticed and took place after the Bank's foreclosure. The consequence of both foreclosures was that the Bank's title to the property was extinguished.

## A. Time Frame of the Bank and Association Foreclosure.

Before any foreclosures took place, the Association mailed an NODA (Recorded February 22, 2012), NOD (recorded August 13, 2012), and an NOS (recorded February 6, 2013) to all appropriate parties.<sup>32</sup> The Bank admits receipt of the NOD and the NOS.<sup>33 34</sup> Also, the Bank has produced the appropriate foreclosure notices for a Bank foreclosure, all of which have been recorded, but the Bank has failed to produce any evidence that the notices were received by the Association. The Banks NOD was recorded on October 30, 2012 and the Bank's NOS was recorded on February 7, 2013.<sup>35</sup> (*See* Bank's NOD at 2JA\_483; *See also* Bank's NOS at 3JA\_518.)

Since the Bank recorded the Bank's NOS a day after the Association's NOS, the Association was not made immediately aware of the Bank's plan to proceed to sale. The opposite is true for the Bank as when the Bank filed its NOS the Bank was at least constructively aware of the Association's intent to sell based on the Association's previously recorded NOS. However, the mere awareness of the

...

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> 2JA\_415(NODA); 2JA\_417(NOD); 3JA\_509(NOS).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The NODA is not required to be sent to the Bank per NRS 116.31162(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 2JA\_439 at 52:9-53:3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> In 2013, NRS 116.31162 was revised to add subsection 5, which precluded an association from foreclosing if an owner-occupied unit encumbered by a deed of trust for which a Notice of Default had been recorded pursuant to NRS 107.080 without a recorded certificate from the foreclosure mediation program. 2013 Stat. Nev. Ch. 536, § 4 at 3484. This amendment does not affect this sale.

Association's intent to foreclose, does not invalidate the Bank's foreclosure, but instead serves as a frame of reference to the events that follow.

After both entities noticed their respective foreclosures, they both foreclosed in a fairly short amount of time; first the Bank foreclosed followed by the Association foreclosure. Contrary to the Bank's position, the Bank's act of foreclosing does not automatically invalidate the Association's foreclosure or the notices sent leading up to the foreclosure. But to understand the legal consequence of the foreclosure, it is important to track the changing property interests and the various liens on the property before and after the foreclosures.

## <u>Snapshot 1: Pre-Bank and Pre-Association Foreclosure.</u>

Before any auction took place both the Association and the Bank had valid liens. The Association had a lien for past due assessments and the Bank had the First Deed of Trust. NRS 116.31162 made a portion of the Association's lien a "superpriority" which meant it was superior to the Bank's Lien. The remainder of the Association's lien was junior to the Bank's lien. Before any foreclosures, Torres, the original borrower on the property, was the property owner.

Lien Interest by Priority (highest priority on top)	<b>Property Owners</b>
Association's lien – superpriority portion	
First Deed of Trust	Torres
Association's lien - subpriority portion	

## <u>Snapshot 2: Post Bank Foreclosure but Pre-Association Foreclosure.</u>

Despite the Association recording it's NOS first, the Bank proceeded to foreclosure on February 26, 2013, prior to the Association's foreclosure. (3JA\_522.) Given that this was a foreclosure of the First Deed of Trust, this sale extinguished both the Bank's First Deed of Trust and the subproprity portion of the Association's lien. The Bank won this auction at foreclosure with a credit bid of \$151,283.09 and thus took ownership of the property. *Id.* The Bank's foreclosure did not extinguish the Association's superpriority portion of its lien which was senior to the Bank's lien, and remained on the property.

Lien Interest by Priority	<b>Property Possessory Interest</b>	
(highest priority on top)	Holder	
Association's lien – superpriority portion		
First Deed of Trust	The Bank	
Association's lien - subpriority portion		

Snapshot 3: Post Bank and Association Foreclosure.

The Association foreclosed on March 6, 2013, on the surviving portion of the Association's lien, being the only lien left on the property. At the auction SFR bid \$7,000 dollars, prevailed and became the new property owner. As the Bank's ownership interest in the property was extinguished in the foreclosure, any excess proceeds from the auction are likely owed to the Bank.

Lien Interest by Priority	<b>Property Possessory Interest</b>	
(highest priority on top)	Holder	
Association's lien — superpriority portion	SFR	

This is truly a simply matter of lien priority and basic foreclosure law. The end result shows that SFR is property owner clear of all other interest. However, the Bank has presented a variety of arguments at the District Court level that unnecessarily conflates the issues. As discussed below these arguments fail.

## B. The Association complied with all aspects of NRS 116 when foreclosing on the property including giving proper notice.

The Association foreclosure was a valid sale that complied with all aspects of NRS 116. However, it is anticipated that the Bank will argue that the Bank did not receive an NODA, NOD or NOS after the Bank's foreclosure. Without these notices, it is likely the Bank will claim that it lacked proper notice of the Association's foreclosure making this foreclosure void. This assertion is wrong for multiple reasons: 1) NRS 116 does not require an association to restart its foreclosure if the property ownership changes during the foreclosure process; 2) the Bank received the notices due to a property owner; and 3) the Bank failed to record its foreclosure deed before the Association foreclosure sale and, therefore, was ineffective against SFR.

## 1. NRS 116 does not require an association to restart its foreclosure every time a property interest changes.

Nothing in NRS 116 requires an association to restart its foreclosure process if property ownership changes during the foreclosure process. A finding to the contrary would mean that an association must expend additional monies to mail and record a new NODA, NOD and NOS every single time property ownership changes during the foreclosure process. If associations were compelled to do this, than a foreclosure could easily be defeat by an unrecorded quitclaim of the property. That is why there are provisions in NRS 116.31163 and NRS 116.31165(1)(b)(2)(1)-(2) that provide for new and unrecorded owners or lienholders to request notice or otherwise notify the association of an interest.

But a purchaser of a property, even at foreclosure, is not left in the dark regarding the various liens on a property. NRS 116.31162 requires that an association's NOD and NOS be recorded. Further, "[u]nder Nevada law, a purchaser of real property with notice of a prior interest takes subject to that interest." *In re Crystal Cascades Civil, LLC*, 398 B.R. 23, 29 (Bankr. D. Nev. 2008), aff'd, 415 B.R. 403 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2009) *citing* NRS 111.320. This Court has also said that "we recognized the well-known principle that the public recording of real estate deeds constitutes constructive notice of the transaction." *Bemis v. Estate of Bemis*, 114 Nev. 1021, 1026 fn. 2, 967 P.2d 437, 441 fn.2 (1998). Thus it logically follows, that a properly recorded notice of foreclosure would give constructive notice of such an

intent to foreclose. Before foreclosure, any prospective purchaser interested in the property only had to review the recorded documents to see if an association intended to foreclosure on its lien based on a previously recorded NOS. In fact, an association's NOS is required by law to contain the time, place of foreclosure and who to contact regarding the foreclosure. NRS 116.31165.

In the case herein, the Bank was the purchaser of property at its own foreclosure. Regardless of the notices it admits receiving from the Association, the Bank would have been at least constructively aware of the recorded documents including the Association's NOS. Upon discovery of the NOS, a prudent purchaser would have sought to protect their interest by satisfying the Association's lien before the Association's sale. Instead the Bank did nothing and allowed the foreclosure to proceed despite being aware of the fact that an Association foreclosure was going to take place. The recording statutes provide all the required notice to a third party seeking to obtain in interest in the property. The Bank simply ignored these notices and now is using creatively lawyering to cover-up its past actions.

## 2. <u>The Bank admits actual notice of the NOD and NOS</u> relating to the Association foreclosure sale of the property.

The Bank admits to receiving the NOD and NOS regarding the association foreclosure. (2JA\_439 at 52:9-53:3.) These notices were received when the Bank only held the mortgage. However, the Bank has taken issue that it did not receive a

new set of notices in it short time as a property owner following its own foreclosure.

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