IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

FIRST HORIZON HOME LOANS, A DIVISION OF FIRST TENNESSEE BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

Case No. 71325

Electronically Filed Feb 24 2017 03:32 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-679329-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8215
BRETT M. COOMBS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12570
AKERMAN LLP

1160 Town Center Drive, Suite 330 Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 Telephone: (702) 634-5000

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

This Court's recent decision in *Munoz v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.* is instructive on the preemptive effect that should be applied to federal statutory schemes, like the National Housing Act, where the challenged state statute's impact on private entities frustrates a federal statutory or regulatory scheme. 131 Nev.

⁹The Federal Housing Administration (FHA), HUD.gov,

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/fhahistory (last visited Dec. 21, 2015) ("FHA mortgage insurance provides lenders with protection against losses as the result of homeowners defaulting on their mortgage loans. The lenders bear less risk because FHA will pay a claim to the lender in the event of a homeowner's default."); *Mortgage Insurance for One to Four Family Homes Section* 203(b), HUD.gov,

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/sfh/ins/203b-df (last visited Dec. 21, 2015) ("[The 203(b)] program provides mortgage insurance to protect lenders against the risk of default on mortgages to qualified buyers."); *see also Hahn*, 430 F.2d at 1249–51; *Falzarano*, 607 F.2d at 512.

Adv. Op. 23, 348 P.3d 689 (2015). In Munoz, this Court considered the preemptive effect of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) on a state statute, NRS 40.459(1)(c), which limits the amount of a deficiency judgment that a successor creditor can recover to the amount it paid to acquire the interest in the secured debt, less the amount of the secured property's actual value. Munoz, 348 P.3d at 692. FIRREA governs the winding down of a failed bank, providing that the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (**FDIC**) will act as receiver for the failed bank and convert the bank's assets to cash to cover insured depositors and debtors to the maximum extent possible. Id. One category of a bank's assets are the loans it holds. Because the Nevada law limited the amount a subsequent private purchaser could recover on the loan, it made it less likely that a private party would purchase the loan, and hence would make it at least marginally more difficult for the FDIC to dispose of the assets. Id. Since the Nevada law interfered with FIRREA's express purpose of "facilitat[ing] the purchase and assumption of failed banks as opposed to their liquidation," it was preempted by the federal law. *Id*.

Like the Nevada statute in *Munoz*, the HOA Lien Statute undermines the incentives federal insurance provides to private parties, which "frustrates the purpose ... or impairs the efficiencies" of a federal program—here the FHA Insurance Program. *See id.*, at 691 (quoting *McClellan v. Chapman*, 164 U.S. 347,

357 (1986)). When Congress enacted the National Housing Act and when HUD first implemented it by promulgating the FHA Insurance Programs' regulations, those two entities struck the balance between the public treasury and the private partnership with loan originators that the HOA Lien Statute frustrates and impedes. Congress, in striking that balance, made decisions that "involve[d] a balancing of factors and a consideration of complex financial data," *Falzarano v. United States*, 607 F.2d 506, 512 (1st Cir. 1979), and "economic and managerial decisions" about which "courts are ill-equipped to superintend." *Hahn v. Gottlieb*, 430 F.2d 1243, 1249-51 (1st Cir. 1970). State interference with that careful and expert balancing could "discourage the increased involvement of the private sector" that is the goal of the National Housing Act, which created the FHA. *Id.*, at 1250.

Recognizing the careful public-private balance Congress struck in enacting the FHA Insurance Program, the Ninth Circuit has consistently held that federal law, rather than state law, applies in cases involving FHA-insured mortgages, which "assure[s] the protection of the federal program against loss, state law to the contrary notwithstanding." *United States v. Stadium Apartments*, 425 F.2d at 358, 362 (9th Cir. 1970); *United States v. View Crest Gardens Apartments, Inc.*, 268 F.2d 380, 383 (9th Cir. 1959) ("[T]he federal policy to protect the treasury and to promote the security of federal investment which in turn promotes the prime purpose of the Act—to facilitate the building of homes by the use of federal

credit—becomes predominant. Local rules limiting the effectiveness of the remedies available to the United States for breach of a federal duty cannot be adopted."); *see also United States v. Victory Highway Vill., Inc.*, 662 F.2d 488, 497 (8th Cir. 1981) ("federal law, not [state] law, governs the rights and liabilities of the parties in cases dealing with the remedies available upon default of a federally held or insured loan.").

Consistent with the well-settled standard that federal law applies to federally-insured mortgages, Chief Judge Navarro held that the HOA Lien Statute was preempted in *Washington & Sandhill*. 2014 WL 4798565, at *7. "[E]xtinguish[ment] of a first secured interest" of a mortgagee where the mortgage is insured by HUD "would 'operate[] to impede or condition the implementation of federal policies and programs' and therefore 'must yield under the supremacy clause of the Constitution to the interests of the federal government." *Id.*, at *6 (quoting *Rust*, 597 F.2d at 179). "Allowing an HOA foreclosure to wipe out a first deed of trust on a federally-insured property thus interferes with the purposes of the FHA insurance program." *Saticoy Bay*, 2015 WL 1990076, at *4.

Foreclosure on and extinguishment of federally-insured mortgages "would run the risk of substantially impairing the Government's participation in the home mortgage market and of defeating the purpose of the National Housing Act." *Rust*, 597 F.2d at 179. The Supremacy Clause "forbids application of a state law that

impedes a federal interest," and the federal interest in the mortgage is impeded where "the property was federally insured at the time of the HOA foreclosure sale." *Saticoy Bay*, 2015 WL 1990076, at *5. Because the HOA Lien Statute impedes the operation of the FHA Insurance Programs, the statute is preempted as applied to FHA-insured mortgages, like the Deed of Trust in this case. Accordingly, the HOA's foreclosure sale is void, and the District Court's judgment should be affirmed.

B. As applied to FHA-insured mortgages, the HOA Lien Statute is preempted because it frustrates FHA's foreclosure-avoidance efforts.

In addition to threatening the partnership between private and public entities, allowing HOAs to foreclose on FHA-insured mortgages also threatens HUD's comprehensive regulations that seek to avoid foreclosure and keep at-risk borrowers in their homes. FHA loans are issued to borrowers who might otherwise not qualify for conventional mortgages due, for example, to their inability to make more than a minimal down payment or their having significantly lower credit scores than banks would otherwise approve.¹⁰

¹⁰ Mortgage Credit Analysis for Mortgage Insurance on One- to Four-Unit Mortgage Loans (4155.1), ch. 4, § 2.A.2.a, *available at*

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=4155-1_2_secA.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015) ("In order for FHA to insure this maximum loan amount, the borrower must make a required investment of at least 3.5% of the lesser of the appraised value or the sales price of the property."). *Id.* § 4.A.1.c (showing that

The FHA is not analogous to a private insurer. As a federal agency, "FHA insures mortgages so that lenders will be encouraged to make more mortgages available for people."

"HUD's mission is to create strong, sustainable, inclusive communities and quality affordable homes for all."

This strong federal interest encompasses keeping borrowers in their homes for some period of time during default as the lender and borrower work to resolve the delinquency.

The FHA Programs include a comprehensive set of servicing guidelines that are aimed at keeping at-risk borrowers in their homes to the extent possible, including in circumstances where the borrowers are in financial distress. For example, before claiming a default and initiating foreclosure proceedings, the FHA Programs' regulations require mortgagees consider forbearance and pre-foreclosure counseling.

The FHA programs include a comprehensive set of servicing guidelines that are aimed at keeping at-risk borrowers in their homes to the extent possible, including in circumstances where the borrowers are in financial distress. For example, before claiming a default and initiating foreclosure proceedings, the FHA Programs' regulations require mortgagees consider forbearance and pre-foreclosure counseling.

borrowers with credit scores between 500 and 579 are eligible for a maximum Loan-To-Value ratio of 90%).

¹¹Discontinuing Monthly Mortgage Insurance Premium Payments, HUD.gov, http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/program_offices/housing/comp/premiu ms/prem2001 (last visited Dec. 21, 2015).

¹² See HUD's Mission Statement, available at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/HUD?src=/about/mission (last visited, Dec. 21, 2015).

¹³ See HUD Mortgagee Letter 2010-04, at 1 (Jan. 22, 2010), http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=10-04ml.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015). ("Loss Mitigation is critical to both borrowers and FHA because it works to fulfill the goal of helping borrowers retain homeownership while protecting the FHA Insurance Fund from unnecessary losses.").

¹⁴ See 24 C.F.R. § 203.501 (requiring that mortgagees "must consider" actions such as "special forbearance," meaning in cases where the mortgagor does not own

noncompliance may result in a civil monetary penalty and withdrawal of HUD's approval of the mortgagee as a program participant, 24 C.F.R. § 203.500.

In addition to forbearance, ¹⁶ FHA regulations require mortgagees consider or attempt other forms of relief short of foreclosure, including modifying a loan's terms to make it more affordable. *Id.*, at §§ 203.357, 203.370, 203.608, 203.616. Moreover, even where foreclosure is inevitable, FHA regulations identify a lengthy and exhaustive process that details the level and form of borrower communications required before foreclosure may begin. ¹⁷ Federal regulators have marshalled many decades of expertise to enact a comprehensive and detailed approach to foreclosure and foreclosure forbearance on FHA-insured mortgages, the goal of which is to

other FHA-insured property and the default was caused by circumstances beyond the mortgagor's control, the forbearance agreement will not require increased payments before the original maturity date of the mortgage); HUD Administration of Insured Home Mortgages Handbook 4330.1, ch. 7, §§ 7-3, available at http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=43301c7HSGH.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015) (requiring that servicers "make a concerted effort to help the mortgagor resolve his/her financial problems," specifically addressing that a mortgage servicer should endeavor to be aware of marital difficulties, substance abuse, excessive gambling, loss of income, loss of employment, illness, and other factors, and then refer borrowers to counseling before initiating foreclosure).

¹⁵ HUD Administration of Insured Home Mortgages Handbook 4330.1 app. 18, at 2, available at

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=43301x18HSGH.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015).

¹⁶ See 24 C.F.R. §§ 203.471, 203.614.

¹⁷ See generally HUD Administration of Insured Home Mortgages Handbook 4330.1, ch. 7, § 7-7, available at

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=43301c7HSGH.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015).

expand the housing market for those who otherwise would not be able to purchase a home. By allowing HOAs to foreclose on distressed borrowers, Nevada law conflicts with FHA regulations specifying foreclosure as a "last resort" for this potentially vulnerable category of borrowers.¹⁸

The U.S. Supreme Court and other federal courts have found preemption of state law under the Supremacy Clause in much less compelling circumstances than those presented here. For instance, in Fidelity Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. De la Cuesta, the Supreme Court held that a Federal Home Loan Bank Board regulation permitting—but not requiring—federal savings and loan associations to include "due-on-sale" clauses in their mortgage contracts preempted state law that restricted the use of such clauses. 458 U.S. 141, 170 (1982). "By further limiting the availability of an option the Board considers essential to the economic soundness of the thrift industry, the State has created 'an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives' of the due-onsale regulation." Id., at 156 (citations omitted). Here, HUD explicitly directs mortgage servicers to exercise restraint in proceeding with foreclosures to help keep borrowers in their homes. Because the HOA Lien Statute impermissibly

-

¹⁸ HUD Administration of Insured Home Mortgages Handbook 4330.1, ch. 9, § 9-3, available at

http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=43301c9HSGH.pdf (last visited Dec. 21, 2015) ("Foreclosure should be considered only as a last resort and shall not be initiated until all other relief options have been exhausted.").

restricts the discretion of both the servicer and HUD in addressing borrower default, it is preempted under the Supremacy Clause as applied to FHA-insured mortgages.¹⁹

Finally, the preemptive effect here is modest. Nothing about HUD regulations or federal preemption requires HOAs to give up their partial payment priority, NRS 116.3116(2); they simply require that HOAs yield to the FHA-insured mortgagee with respect to the timing of their recovery out of foreclosure proceeds. *See* NRS 116.31162. The HOAs will still receive the fees that are entitled to super-priority status following a sale conducted by the mortgagee. But allowing an HOA to foreclose on an FHA-insured loan plainly frustrates the objectives of HUD regulations in restricting foreclosures on at-risk FHA borrowers where specified foreclosure avoidance measures offer some promise of keeping the borrowers in their homes.

_

similarly, in *Forest Park II v. Hadley*, 336 F.3d 724 (8th Cir. 2003), a state statute required owners of federally subsidized low-income housing to comply with prepayment requirements and schedules that differed from those imposed under federal law and HUD regulations. The Court in *Forest Park II* noted it was possible to comply with both laws. At issue were conflicting notice requirements and "Forest Park could give 365 days-notice to the state and 250 days-notice to HUD." *Id.*, at 732. But by requiring more notice under state law, the private entity would be required to wait longer than it otherwise would have before it could prepay its loans. While the Eighth Circuit recognized that compliance with both statutes was possible, it reasoned that such an argument did "not address the principal problem with these state statutes—they fly in the face of the Constitution's Supremacy Clause." *Id.*

Because the HOA Lien Statute "interferes with the federal purpose or operates to impede or condition the implementation" of the FHA Programs, it is preempted as applied to FHA-insured mortgages, like First Horizon's deed of trust. *See Rust*, 597 F.2d at 179. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court's grant of summary judgment in First Horizon's favor.

VI. THE DISTRICT COURT AND THIS COURT MAY CONSIDER ALL ARGUMENTS RAISED BY FIRST HORIZON—NRS 38.310 DOES NOT APPLY.

SFR argues this Court and the District Court lack jurisdiction to interpret the CC&Rs relating to this property until after NRED mediation occurred. (Appellant's Initial Br., at 17-18.) SFR did not raise this argument below and may not raise it here. A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal. Old Aztec Mine v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981); see also Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray, 121 Nev. 464, 480 n. 24, 117 P.3d 227, 238 n. 24 (2005).

To the extent the Court is inclined to hear SFR's argument, it fails because NRS 38.310 does not apply to SFR's or First Horizon's claims.

A. NRS 38.310 Does Not Apply to First Horizon's Claims

SFR's and First Horizon's first cause of action for declaratory judgment are indisputably exempt from NRS 38. NRS 38.300(3) specifically excludes "actions

²⁰ To the extent SFR contends it need not have raised this argument below because it goes to jurisdiction, SFR has failed to cite authority holding NRS 38.310 is a limit on jurisdiction. Labeling an argument jurisdictional does not make it so.

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